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SUMMARY

A programme of archaeological recording was cardetiby Oxford Archaeology North
(OA North), on behalf of English Heritage, at Olariisle, Wigton, Cumbria (NY 2614
4614), during June 2002. The work was required rtavide a mitigation record of the
archaeological features that had been exposedglthin topsoil strip in advance of the
construction of a yard for the adjacent farm. Imlesrto minimise disturbance to the
archaeological features, they were subject tota itpaning and detailed planning, with a
specific requirement that the work should not eatavleeper than the exposed surface.

The site liesc116m east of the Roman fort at Old Carlisle, anditkin the area of the

Scheduled Monument (SM CU8). Despite its positiehibd the line of Hadrian’s Wall,

the fort is clearly an integral component of thedHianic Frontier system; it is situated on
the Roman road linking Carlisle to Papcastle, peshi@ protect the south flank of the
Solway Plain. The associated extramural settlenseparticularly intriguing, not least for

being the only one to have produced epigraphicesdd for a 'village' council. Very little

is known, however, about he chronological developnué the settlement, reflecting the
very limited amount of archaeological excavatiodemaken there.

A maximum depth of 0.3m of topsoil/ploughsoil, a&s@nd area measuriog§8m by 14m,
had been stripped by the landowner. The archaembgleaning of the exposed surface
subsequently revealed a suite of Roman remainkidimg a well-preserved section of the
road that led out from the east gate of the fam avidence of at least one substantial
building, providing important new evidence of thature, character, and extent of the
extramural settlement at Old Carlisle.

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002
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1. INTRODUCTION

11
111

1.1.2

1.2
121

1.2.2

1.3
13.1

QGRCUMSTANCES OF PROJECT

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) was iradtby English Heritage to submit a
project design for a programme of archaeologioabnding following a topsoil strip
for a farm development at Old Carlisle, Wigton, Guia (NY 2614 4614; Fig 1).
The site formed part of the extramural settlemérthe Roman fort, and lies within
the area designated as a Scheduled Monument (CAh&rea, measuringl8m by
14m, had been subject to a topsoil strip, withaahaeological supervision, in the
course of the development, during which it becampeaeent that archaeological
features were exposed. English Heritage therefegeasted that a programme of
archaeological recording be undertaken to clean racdrd these features. The
project was funded by English Heritage.

The fieldwork was carried out by OA NorthJune 2002, and this report sets out
the results of the work in conjunction with a methstatement, and assesses the
data generated within a local and regional context.

TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY

Old Carlisle Farm (NY 2614 4614) is situatdgn2to the south of Wigton, and
some 15km south-west of Carlisle, Cumbria. Thel@gsome 116m to the east of
the Roman fort at Old Carlisle, within the areatlod extramural settlement, at a
height ofc60m OD.

Old Carlisle lies on the southern edge ofliread, lowland plain of the Solway
Basin, which is fringed by the relatively remoteastline of the Solway Firth. The
Solway Basin is underlain mainly by mudstones aamtistones of Permo-Triassic
age (‘New Red Sandstone’) which, to the west ofli€lar are overlain by
mudstones and limestones of Jurassic age (CouwtgrySommission 1998, 20).
Erosion of the comparatively weak Permo-Triassid darassic rocks had already
reduced much of the Solway Basin to an area ofrigief prior to the onset of the
last glaciation, when thick ice-sheets crossedatiea from Scotland and the Lake
District, resulting in further erosion and the dsition of boulder claydp cit, 21).

HISTORICAL AND ARCHAEOLOGICAL BACKGROUND

The Roman fort and associated settlementlctQarlisle are amongst the most
intriguing sites on the Roman Frontier, not leasé do the limited amount of
archaeological investigation undertaken there. ¥¥hie foundation date for the
fort remains uncertain, it was clearly an integmmponent of the network of forts
constructed throughout Cumberland as a suppoth&restern flank of the Wall,
and is therefore clearly an element in the Hadcidrantier-scheme (Collingwood
1928, 104). This does not rule out the possibiligt a fort existed at Old Carlisle
prior to Hadrian’s reorganisation of the Frontis,there are numerous examples of
forts of the Hadrianic network using sites thatedaback to the Trajanic and
Flavian periodsdp cit, 106). It is, nevertheless, likely that the exigtramparts and
general plan are Hadrianic; the size and dimensainghe fort at Old Carlisle

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002
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1.3.2

1.3.3

134

suggest that it is one of the Hadrianic seriesavhlry forts (Birley 1951, 33), and it
compares closely with the Hadrianic Benwell and <téws forts. Epigraphic
evidence has confirmed that the fort was indeedigied by a cavalry unit (thala
Augusta Gallorum Proculeianawhich, as Birley points oubp cit 30), was the
only cavalry unit on the western flank of HadriaW#all. The position of Old
Carlisle relative to the network of roads led Fegu(1890) to propose that the fort
was a strategic centre for the region, and Haudrf@milarly considered Old
Carlisle to have played a key role in the defentategy of the region, and
proposed it to beamong the most important Roman forts in north-waste
Cumberland (1920, 146).

Of the associated settlement, Birley conduithat it was in many ways far more
interesting, and deserving of investigation bytpeade, than the fort itself. For one
thing, it seems to have occupied as wide a tra@mssuch settlement in our atea
(1951, 34). Aerial photography of the site takenJBySt Joseph in the summer of
1949 showed clear outlines of rectangular buildialggrg both sides of the main
Roman road to the south of the fort, and alongaiweroach road to the east gate
(Plate 1) (Margary 1973). A further programme ofi@ephotography, undertaken
some 25 years later (Higham and Jones 1975), atlapsgstem of block-flying, in
preference to linear flying, in order to gain arderstanding of the wider landscape
around the Roman fort. This indicated that theamtiral settlement covere$.8
hectares, and incorporated buildings that extefoledt least 0.5km along the main
road to the south. Detailed analysis and transonpof the aerial photographs
provided a clear picture of the main buildings witlnd around the fort (Fig 2),
and showed that the axis formed by the line of Rleenan road, from Carlisle to
Papcastle, formed the principal street of the extral settlementop cit 24).
Bidwell suggested that the apparent regularithefdettlement plan indicated that it
had been laid out by the army (1997, 74), whilsgidim and Jones (1975) argue
that the principal alignments of the settlementevbased upon the Carlisle to
Papcastle road and the road issuing from the e&stog the fort.

In addition to the Carlisle to Papcastle r@ad its branch road leading to the east
gate of the fort, Bellhouse traced a north-bouratirfrom the east gate as far as
the new secondary modern school, a straight lengglast over one mile, pointing
uncompromisingly towards Drumburg(il956, 42). Bellhouse also postulated a
south-bound road from OId Carlisle, via Broadfieidl,Old Penrith, but conceded
that in both cases much fieldwork is still needed beftbrese roads can be
accepted as certairfibid). Some evidence for the north-bound road was $hed
by a limited programme of archaeological investmatin 1998/9 by the Carlisle
Archaeological Unit (CAU), which focused on theaod.5km to the north of the
fort. This work revealed a series of boundary ditclhf Roman date, and included
the retrieval of fourth century pottery (CAU 1999QVhilst being far from
conclusive, this work provided tentative evidendeemtramural settlement at a
distance in excess of 1km beyond the north gatieeofort.

In addition to its apparently large size, ¢éihramural settlement at Old Carlisle *
the only one to have produced epigraphic evideoncdhe existence of a village
council (Birley 1951, 34); an altar dedicated to Juppi@ptimus Maximus and
Vulcan for the health of the emperor Gordian (ADB82B!), was'set up by the
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135

1.3.6

1.3.7

1.3.8

village authorities from money contributed by thélagers (translation in
Collingwood 1928, 116).

In terms of the wider landscape, Higham aowkes identified several acres of
divisions within the fields to the south of thetf@nd settlement at Old Carlisle.
‘Fields somewhat less than one acre in size praliéer.. in an agglomeration of
rectangular boxes that at last give us some impoassf the reality of Roman
agriculture close to a fort(1975, 25). They further identified numerous inat
style’ settlements in the vicinity, as at Jenki@sss and Sandy Brow to the east,
and concluded thatHe Old Carlisle fort accumulated a number of sitesreate a
rather denser infilling on the location map thannermally the case in this area
(ibid). Higham and Jones concluded that these settlenvesrte attractedby the
economic forces created by the Roman road andtga@dant fort (op cit, 26).

Archaeological excavation within the extraatusettlement at Old Carlisle is
limited to that undertaken in 1956 by RL Bellhousdich focused on part of the
settlement to the south of the fort (Bellhouse 399%his excavation revealed a
sequence of buildings, which includeslbstantial stone ones with flagged floors
and stone and slate roofand ‘wattle-and-daub houses with clay flobf®p cit,
23). Analysis of the pottery retrieved from thisaxation indicated that part of the
settlement was occupied during the second and tanduries AD. Bellhouse did
not offer any interpretation of the function of $leebuildings, but did note the
frequent occurrence of burnt clay nodules and atanincharcoal.

The date at which the Roman Army abandonedda@tlisle is uncertain. The fort is
mentioned in thé&lotitia Dignitatum an official document containing a list of army
units, which has been datedd&D 410, although is thought to have been based on
earlier sources (Shotter 1993, 106). This suggésitsa Roman garrison was still
maintained at Old Carlisle during the closing stagd the fourth century.
Significantly, there is some evidence, albeit dligbr continued occupation during
the post-Roman period. Thistoria Brittonum written in the early ninth century
and attributed to Nennius, refers to the castlachvNortigern built for himself at
Guasmoricnear Carlisle asa’city which in English is called Palmcast(®irley
1951, 17). An inquest of 1305 includes Palmcastneray a group of enclosures in
the King's forest, all of which are identified akages in the western part of the
parish of Westward, whilst a survey of the sama,adated 1578, mention®Id
Carliell at Palmcastle(ibid). Using this evidence, Collingwood (1928, 111¥eai
the possibility that the settlement at Old Carlislay thus have been the capital of a
British chief or king in the time of Vortigern, else the same settlement was still
inhabited and had become the local centre of RBritsurvival when the
Northumbrians arrived in the seventh century.

One of the earliest eyewitness accounts df@rlisle was provided by Camden,
who visited the area during his northern tour i99,5and described the site as the
‘pitifull reliques of an ancient citigsic] (Camden 1610). A more detailed account
was compiled in 1725 by William Stukeley, who ddsed the remains aghe
fairest show of foundations | ever yet saw: onehinaimost draw an intirgsic]
plan of it, and of every dwelling1776, 54). Similarly, Horsley remarked th#hée
ruins of the old Roman town and station here ang/ @ygand and conspicuous...
(1732, 112). In the years subsequent to, but alsdylto have begun before,
Horsley's remarks, the fort and associated strestprovided an ideal source of

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002
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building materials for houses and boundary wallthanlocality. Hutchinson (1776,
230), for instance, noted thahé church of Wigton, and many of the buildings in
that town, have been erected out of the rfiniOld Carlisle]’. In their volume on
Cumberland, published in 1816, the Lyson brothensarked thatih the year 1811
a considerable portion of the wall on the east afléhe station was laid open for
the purpose of obtaining ready hewn stone for sbmiklings on the adjoining
farm’ (quoted in Birley 1951, 26). Birley suggests the drastic stone-robbing of
1811 had been a consequence of the passing ity¢laatof an enclosure act, which
eliminated the last surviving common lands in thagh of Westward, and made it
necessary to provide field-walls to mark the bouredaof different propertiés
(ibid).

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002
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2. METHODOLOGY

2.1 PROJECT DESIGN

2.1.1 A project designAppendix ) was submitted by OA North, in response to a Merba
request from Caron Newman of English Heritage, ®®r programme of
archaeological recording of the features exposetarcourse of the topsoil strip in
advance of the proposed development. The projesiguleallowed for the light
cleaning of the exposed surface, and the detail@anmpg of any archaeological
features. In order to minimise disturbance to ttebha@eology of the area, there was
a specific requirement that the archaeological wahould not excavate deeper
than the exposed surface. The project design wasiged in May 2002 and,
following its formal acceptance by English Heritagee fieldwork was undertaken
during June 2002.

2.2 ARCHAEOLOGICAL RECORDING

2.2.1 An area measuringl8m by 14m had been stripped of topsoil/ploughbgilthe
landowner in May 2002, revealing a suite of archagioal deposits. The
subsequent programme of archaeological work invblvee cleaning of the
exposed surface, using exclusively manual techsicared the detailed recording of
the visible deposits and features. Recording caedria full description and
accurate location of all features and deposits @emewed. A photographic record
was also maintained, comprising monochrome priotdour slides, and digital
format.

2.2.3 The recording methods employed by OA Nortloetevith those recommended by
English Heritage's Centre for Archaeology (CfA)cBeling was in the form gdro
forma Context Sheets for each of the discrete featunek deposits identified,
together with an accompanying plan. The surfactufea were surveyed by EDM
tacheometry using a total station linked to a pemputer data logger, the accuracy
of detail generation being appropriate for a 1:86€ut. The survey was enhanced
by manual survey on site using AutoCAD 14 withie ffen computer. The position
of the excavation was located with respect to sumdong landscape features, and
was also recorded using the total station.

2.2.4 All finds recovered during the course of thejgct were bagged and recorded by
context. Artefactual material was processed in atanoce with OA North standard
practice, which follows current IFA guidelines. Aoutline catalogue has been
prepared and is included Appendix 3

2.3 ARCHIVE

2.3.1 A full archive of the archaeological investiga has been produced to a
professional standard in accordance with currenglisim Heritage guidelines
(English Heritage 1991). The project archive repnés the collation and indexing
of all the data and material gathered during thers® of the project, including
processing and analysis of any features and fiedevered during fieldwork, in
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accordance with UKIC guidelines (Walker 1990). Tgaper and material archive
will be deposited with the Tullie House Museum iarlisle. In addition, a copy of
the report will be forwarded to the Cumbria Sited onuments Record.

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002
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3. RESULTS

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

3.2
3.2.1

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.2.4

INTRODUCTION

The following is a description of the arcHagmal deposits and features
encountered during the fieldwork; a summary list cointexts is presented in
Appendix 2 The uppermost deposits had been removed by mieahaxcavator
prior to the commencement of the current project.ekamination of the vertical
section confirmed that these deposits comprisesioiband ploughsoil up to 0.3m
deep. The topsoil strip was undertaken without@eological supervision, although
it would appear that the removal of these layers lien undertaken with care and
with little disturbance to the underlying stratighg.

It is understood that on completion of thehaeological investigation, the exposed
remains are to be sealed beneath a protective sheéetram, and buried beneath
hard-core.

STE DESCRIPTION

Road: the dominant feature exposed during the coursehef groject was a
substantial and well-preserved metalled surf@3e,which crossed the site from
east to west, and had a maximum width of 5.2m @@iglt comprisedc10%
medium-sized sub-rounded stones aB@% small rounded stones, gravel, and pea-
grits rammed into an orange-brown, coarse sandimdtirming a coherent
metalled surface (Plate 3). The metalling was paldrly well-preserved across the
eastern part of the exposed area, whilst the uppéace, across the western part,
appeared to have sustained slight disturbance, aptpbby ploughing. The
characteristics and alignment of the surf&3 jndicate that it was the Roman road
leading out from the east gate of the fort, as rhayseen clearly from aerial
photographs (Plate 1).

The surface dd3 was at a slightly higher level than the adjacespasit to the
north, 09, indicating that it was constructed upon an embeet, oragger The
northern edge of the road3, was well-defined, and incorporated a gentle camber
between the edge and the crown of the surface.sbhéhern extent of the road,
however, was not defined clearly as it was paytialasked by overlying deposits,
particularly a rubble sprea@6 (Section 3.2.12

Three, large sub-rectangular storids,were revealed towards the eastern end of
the exposed section of road (Fig 3). These appéareein situ, and had seemingly
been carefully placed at regular intervalscOfém across the width of the road.
Their purpose remains unclear, although one intéapion may be that they
represent a junction between working parties dutimg road’s construction. A
second series of large, sub-rectangular stdriesyas noted aligned east/west along
the length of the road. These were situated inafiygroximate middle of the road,
03, perhaps marking its centre.

An examination of the vertical section aldhg eastern edge of the exposed area
revealed that the upper surface of r@@day at a maximum depth of 0.3m below

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002
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3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

3.2.9

the modern ground surface, although this decre&sea depth of 0.2m at the
western edge.

Situated along the northern edge of the r@&dnd stratigraphically of a later date,
was an homogeneous, mid-brown silty-sab@l, which contained60% stones of
all sizes and configurations (Fig 3). Some of th&emes appeared to have worked
faces, suggesting that they were ashlars from aligmed structure, although there
was no surviving evidence of any such buildinghatdepth excavated.

Structures. firm evidence of stone structures was revealetiwithe southern part
of the exposed area (Fig 4). Situated in the seastern corner of the site, and
continuing beyond the area exposed, was a stry@dreomprising an alignment
of four very large worked stone%3, parallel, butc2.3m to the south, of the road,
03 (Plate 4). These stones appeared to have beepeiddély laid, forming a
substantial wall. The largest of the componentetomas 0.92m long, and in excess
of 0.66m wide. Interestingly, one of the stones wha yellow sandstone that does
not occur locally and was likely to have been int@drto the site. The tops of the
stones were at a similar level to the upper surtda®ad03 and, as there was no
indication of a foundation cut, it may be suggestet further courses of masonry
exist below the exposed stones.

Situated 2.7m to the west of wiB, a north/south aligned wall4, was exposed.
This similarly incorporated large freestone blockst of smaller dimensions to
those forming walll3 (Plate 5). The ashlars appeared to have beentagedn the
internal and external faces, which enclosed a akotrre of rubble, forming a wall
0.6m thick. Occasional traces of clay within thebie core may have represented
the vestiges of a bonding material, although tlmsld not be confirmed without
further excavation. The 2.7m wide gap between tréhrsouth and east/west walls
contained displaced masonry, fragments of slatd, teaces of a fine metalling,
perhaps representing an entrance to the structure.

Immediately adjacent to wdlB was a large, worked sandstone sléh, which
measured 1.77m long and was aligned east/wesie(B)atThe straight sides and
chamfered edges of this stone indicate that itdesh carefully worked. It appeared
to have been carefully laid, perhaps as a compooérgtructure04. Limited
excavation revealed that a further course of masonderlay slal®5, although its
precise relationship with structut@ could not be confirmed without further
excavation.

Further structural evidence was provided bimneaar spread of closely-packed
stones, 1.05m wide, set in a matrix of compactethge sandy-clay08), which
was revealed 0.88m to the west of structdde(Fig 3). This was also aligned
parallel to road)3 (Plate 7), and appeared to represent the foundatd a small
building. A series of regularly-spaced iron nailasadiscovered along the upper
surface of08, suggesting that it may have supported a timbperstructure. The
clay and cobble foundation was traced for a digaot 4.4m, and north/south
aligned returns were noted at each end, which moeti beyond the southern edge
of the site (Fig 4).

3.2.10 Foundatiorf8 enclosed to the south a spread of closely-packestiium-sized

rounded stones set into a sandy-clay mafi@x,These appeared to form a cobbled
surface, possibly a floor internal to structld® The surface was overlain by

For the use of English Heritage [7 OA North November 2002



Old Carlisle, Wigton, Cumbria: Archaeological Recorgi 13

tumbled building material, which included fragmerm slate. Several of these
fragments contained peg holes, indicating that thay been used as roofing
material.

3.2.11 Between structurégl and 08 was a deposit of mid-orange brown silty-sa@d,
which incorporated occasional pea-grits and spetnsgcoal flecking. This deposit
appeared to butt the western wall of struct® thereby post-dating its
construction.

3.2.12 Across the western part of the site wasde spread of closely-packed stor@s;,
which comprised stones of all sizes and configaretj including fragments of
sandstone ashlars (Fig 3). The majority of thesmest appeared to have been
deposited randomly, and possibly represented theerrakhdiscarded from stone
robbing. Two small groups of stones did, howevare gome impression of having
been deliberately laid, suggesting that they main Is#u structural remains (shown
in bold on Figure 3); however, this could not benfaoned without further
excavation. The greatest density of stones withia $pread occurred across its
western part (Fig 3), the density of stones deanrgaswards the south-west corner
of the site, with a corresponding increase in ttope@rtion of coarse sandy-clay soil
matrix. In places, this deposit was of a loose ibescy, forming ‘soft spots’,
which occurred in conjunction with a concentratadrilat slabs of sandstone, many
of which displayed indications of burning on oneesiL5.

3.2.13 Many of the deposits and features descialbede appear to have been overlain by
a patchy and mixed layer of very dark brown, coaeady-clay02. Layer02 was
the uppermost deposit across the exposed are@sgratchy occurrence is likely to
have been the result of its partial removal dunmgchine stripping. Where it
survived intact, such as in the south-west corrdehe area, it had a maximum
depth of 0.05m. This contained occasional stonegradled fragments of brick,
slate, charcoal flecking, and three fragments st{peedieval pottery.

3.2.14 The topsoil/ploughsoidl, had been removed by mechanical excavator prianto
archaeological presence on the site, but was redardthe vertical section edges. It
comprised an homogeneous dark brown, fine sangythkt contained occasional
small rounded and sub-rounded stones, and had anmaxdepth of 0.3m across
the eastern part of the site, but this reduced.2onCacross the western part. No
clear interface between a topsoil and ploughsaiizba could be discerned in the
vertical sections of the exposed area, suggeshiagit may have been subject to
ploughing in recent times; traces of ridge anddwriacross the study area may be
seen on aerial photographs (Higham and Jones 1975).
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4. THE FINDS

4.1
4.1.1

4.2
4.2.1

4.2.2

4.2.3

4.2.4

4.2.5

INTRODUCTION

A moderate assemblage of material was rettieeing the course of the project,
192 fragments in all. In general, the material wagpoor condition, and many
fragments were clearly quite abraded, having besmsovered from essentially
disturbed deposits. Nonetheless, it seems likely little of the material will have

moved far from its original place of depositiondathmat disturbance is relatively
recent. The vast majority was of Roman date, amdpecised a range of material
categories, including pottery vessels, glass, cerdmilding material, iron, and

copper alloy objects, suggesting a level of wealththe site. A summary finds
catalogue is included @&gppendix 3

POTTERY

The pottery assemblage consisted of 121 shéitus bulk of the material was
retrieved from unstratified contexts, which inclddiat collected from the spoil
heap generated during the topsoil strip and froengieneral clearance layer. Some
of the earlier material is abraded, and many oflgter sherds also show some
surface erosion. Breaks were not, however, undalsnwsuggesting that there had
not been an undue amount of disturbance priorisopttoject.

The coarsewares comprised 48 fragments oBpiplocally made oxidised wares,
at least some which are likely to have been prodiatehe Scalesceugh kilns, south
of Carlisle (McCarthy 1990), 13 fragments of redigeeywares of unknown origin
(but again likely to be of local manufacture), al®@l sherds of Black Burnished
Ware Category 1.

The finewares included six small fragmentsabur-coated finewares, probably
Nene Valley products, and 18 sherds of samiannlsn@entral Gaulish in origin.
The remaining fabrics identified include DresselQ#anish amphora (16 sherds),
and two fragments of mortarium (producers not itfiet). The range of fabrics
and vessels present suggests a date range cemttied second century AD, and
possibly stretching into the third.

The majority of the assemblage was locallylpeed, indicating that pottery was in
easy local supply by the second century. Howewer presence of relatively large
amounts of Black Burnished Ware and samian, aloily amphora, also suggests
quite strongly, and not surprisingly, that the sitas able to access the military
supply network, at least during the second centmy, probably into the third. The
presence of a small amount of Severn Valley warprea@ominantly second and
third century product, thought to have been reaghiadrian’s Wall by the 120s

(Webster 1978), again suggests access to militamces of supply.

The pottery is summarised as follows:
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Fabric Group Category Period Unstrat Structure | Structure | Floor 10
04 08

Coarse / Black Second 19 1
0 Burnished century or
finewares Ware 1 later

Oxidised Second 48 2
Ware century

Reduced Warg Second | 13
century?

Severn Valley | Second/ |1 1
Third
century

Nene Valley Second/ | 2 1
Third
century

Mortaria Second 1
century

Amphorae First — 11 1 1
Third
century

Samian Second 15 3 1
century

Totals 109 9 1 2

4.3 CERAMIC BUILDING MATERIAL

4.3.1 Two pieces of tile were collected, one propaegulatype roof tile. As the
fragments were small they add little to interprietabf the site.

4.4 METALWORK

4.4.1 A badly corroded silver coin (1014), found hait upper clearance laydr, is
probably a second centudgnarius.The copper alloy ring fitting (1003), recovered
from 10, probably derived from a horse harness.

4.4.2 In all, 44 iron objects were collected; ofsbdel0 were nails, many of which were
complete, if badly corroded. Many of the completaraples were associated with
structure08. There was also a 'D'-shaped buckle with a broken(p007) from
structure04, a wedge-shaped object from laygdr (1010), a masonry spike (1008)
and an unidentifiable object, both from structd®e
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4.5
45.1

4.6
4.6.1

GLASsS

Seven fragments of glass were collected frmarance layedl, representing two
blue/green thin walled vessels, a small hexagonailildablown storage bottle,
which dates to the late second century (Price aada@® 1998), and three rim
fragments probably from a small flask. The oth@gfments consist of two small
pitted pieces of blue and frosted window glassqipneably modern).

STONE

Eleven pieces of sandstone and slate roaf Wiere recovered from the clearance
layer,01, and from structur@8. Several fragments are heavily burnt, indicating tha
they have been subjected to intense heat. One laagenent of Borrowdale
Volcanic Slate had a peg hole on its edge, sinuld@hat described by RL Bellhouse
in his account of the Old Carlisle excavations 3@ (Bellhouse 1959).
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5. DISCUSSION

5.1
5.1.1

5.1.2

5.1.3

5.1.4

5.1.5

5.1.6

THE SITE

The development at Old Carlisle Farm has igeay an extremely valuable
opportunity to examine the nature, character, atefrity of the Roman extramural
settlement beyond the east gate of the fort. Tlegramme of archaeological
recording has demonstrated a&m situ presence of Roman structures, with a
potential for further remains to exist at a lonardl.

The exposed remains are undoubtedly of sagrefisance, in both local and
regional terms. The colossal stone®dnare particularly tantalising, as they appear
to represent the remains of a substantial structoeehaps indicating a public
building on the site. Similarly, the apparent useslate, rather than thatch, as a
roofing material suggests an element of wealthtiqdarly as the Borrowdale
volcanic rock implies a central Lakeland origindanill thus have been brought
from some distance.

The merging of the site plan generated dutireg present study with the aerial
photographs of Higham and Jones (1975) has shaemralation between structure
04 and a large building, seen on the latter, whigheaped to measu2m square
(Fig 2). It is interesting to note that, whilstutas not possible to discern any
adjacent buildings from the aerial photography @igthe present study has clearly
demonstrated structural remains to the west.

Clay and cobble foundati® has been recorded as a separate feature to s¢ructu
04 as there was no direct link between the two, dmely thad very different
construction techniques. It is nevertheless possiblat these two structural
components were part of the same building, the bfillvhich lies to the south,
beyond the recorded area.

The substantial stone building at Old Caglisl particularly interesting, as only a
limited number of comparable buildings have yet rbedentified from other

extramural settlements in the North West. Perh&psbiest parallel, however, is
from the excavations of the extramural settlementPapcastle, where the
foundations of a large stone public building wedentified, comprising large

blocks of quite well-dressed masonry, set on aelgsatform of dumped clay
(Olivier et al 1990). The building included an altar base andyariine of Marsyas

was found within it, which would imply a high statéor the building, such as a
mansio or a temple. On the present evidence, howevers ihat possible to

conjecture as to the function of the Old Carligldding.

The presence of the worked stone s@,is intriguing. Its overall size and
carefully worked edges suggest that it may haven batended as a piece of
monumental masonry, perhaps intended to bear aniptien, or as a milestone.
However, within the remit of the present projettyas not possible to lift the stone
and examine the reverse face; it is worth notirag ¢ghlarge collection of inscribed
stones (26 in total) has been retrieved previofrsei;m Old Carlisle, the details of
which are presented by Collingwood (1928, 112-9)eslones, re-used as building
material, have been found elsewhere in Roman Brgach as at Rockbourne in
Hampshire, and an inscription dedicated to Cariolu282-3 (Collingwood and
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5.1.7

5.1.8

5.1.9

Wright 1965), discovered at Clanville, also in Haipe, may either be another re-
used milestone or indicate imperial ownership @eéedoyere 2001, 123); such
interpretations of ston@5, however, can only be confirmed by examinationt®f
underside.

The stone spred@y, is also likely to represent the remains of a ststnucture, and
may potentially originate from the discarding ofter&l during large-scale stone-
robbing during the post-medieval period. The incogped ‘soft spots’, with
associated burnt stone slabs, are particularlyigiitrg. The ‘soft spots’ may
indicate a below ground structure, such as a ¢eldrough again this could not be
characterised without further excavation.

The road)3, appears clearly on aerial photographs of the(Bitgte 1) as a branch
from the main road, which takes a course just sobithoth the farm and the fort.
This main road was that from Carlisle to Papcastleéch probably extended down
the coast to Ravenglass (Margary 1973, 126-8).braech roadQ3, leads directly
out from the east gate of the fort, and will hawvenfed its main access. This is
reflected in the width 0®3, which was seen to measure up to 5.2m acrossyasd
built on an embankment, @gger Margary (1973, 15) considers a width of 30ft
(9.15m) to have been the maximum size of imporRorhan roadsand on lesser
roads a width of 15-18ft (4.57-5.49m) is very comm®he use of araggerwas
intended to provide a well-drained base, essefatidhe maintenance of a firm road
structure. The material for treggerwas frequently derived from the excavation of
a broad ditch along one or both sides of the rdadse ditches often became silted
up during the Roman period, as at Walton-le-Dalibl§Gnset al forthcoming), or
subsequently, leaving no surface indication ofrtipeesence. It was impossible to
confirm the presence of roadside ditches duringcthese of the project, although
there was sufficient space for a ditch betweersthghern edge of the rod@8, and
structure$4 and08 to the south.

The fieldwork did not reveal any depositst thauld be ascribed to the medieval
period, and no artefacts of that date are contawithin the finds assemblage. The
coarse sandy-clay depodi2, however, is likely to represent activity in thesp
medieval period. Its mixed nature and ephemeraliroence across the exposed
area suggested that it may represent trampled i@at@erhaps originating from the
widespread stone-robbing of the site.
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6. ASSESSMENT OF POTENTIAL

6.1
6.1.1

6.1.2

6.1.3

6.1.4

POTENTIAL

The programme of archaeological recording k& Carlisle has established the
character and integrity of the archaeological reimdieyond the east gate of the
fort. It has shown that significant stone strudtueamains survive intact, with a
considerable potential for additional remains biveer depth. The upper surface of
in situ Roman remains, represented by a well-preservdtbserf Roman road, lies
at a minimum depth of 0.2m below the modern grosundiace.

The nature and function of Roman extramugttlesnents in the north of England
have recently been a topic of much debate (T.Wiimets comm), and the remains
exposed at Old Carlisle Farm have the potentiainform further discussions.
Recent excavations at Burgh-by-Sands (OA North p0@2 instance, have raised
the possibility of an ‘industrial zone’ stretchiatpng the road from the east gate of
Burgh Il fort, and similar results have been olgdinfrom excavations along
Botchergate, Carlisle (CAU 2001; OA North 2001).eféd is, as yet, insufficient
information to propose a similar scenario at Oldli€la, but the complete absence
of ‘burnt clay nodules’ and ‘abundant charcoal’ it the present study area
contrasts with the results of excavations to thetlsof the fort (Bellhouse 1959),
and may tentatively suggest that the two areaslifatent functions.

The extent of the extramural settlement beéythe east gate of the fort at Old
Carlisle is uncertain, and speculations are basg@kely on aerial photography. The
present study has certainly confirmed that themissiderable activity in excess of
100m from the fort’s east gate, and has reinfotbedanalysis of aerial photographs
of the area (Higham and Jones 1975).

The eastern edge of the settlement was moitifittd during the course of the
present study, and, whilst evidence from aeriakt@ip@phy suggests that it is close
to Old Carlisle Farm, Higham and Jones (1975) hewggested the presence of
‘native-style’ settlement in the vicinity. This ilicled an agglomeration of
rectangular boxésrepresenting Roman agriculture, aadsubstantial native style
settlementlying clkm to the south, that was linked to the fort litahed trackway
(op cit, 25). Similarly, at Jenkin's Cross, some 4km ® ¢last, Higham and Jones
identified a branch road that deviated from themRoman route to a major native-
style settlement at Sandy Browi@). Any opportunity to examine archaeologically
the interface between ‘military-style’ and ‘natiggde’ settlements, as may be
provided at Old Carlisle, may be seen to be ofiB@gnce. It is hoped that any
future development work in the area will be closelgnitored in order to provide
more information.
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APPENDIX 1
PROJECT DESIGN

Oxford
Archaeology

May 2002 North

OLD CARLISLE,
WIGTON

CUMBRIA

ARCHAEOLOGICAL RECORDING

Proposals
The following project design is offered in respottsa request from English Heritage

for an archaeological recording at Old Carlisle RoCumbria.
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11
111

11.2

113

1.2
121

1.2.2

INTRODUCTION
CRCUMSTANCES OF PROJECT

Oxford Archaeology North (OA North) (formeryancaster University Archaeological Unit) has
been invited by English Heritage to submit a projesign and costs for archaeological recording
at Old Carlisle Farm, Wigton, Cumbria (NY 2614 4h1%he site is within the area of a the vicus
of the OlenacumRoman Fort and is a scheduled ancient monumeniQ#®). An area of 12m x
17m has been subject to a top-soil strip in thesmof a farm development, and a programme of
archaeological work is required to provide a miiigga record of the archaeological features that
have been exposed.

Archaeological Background: the proposed development is within the vicusthaf Olenacum
Roman fort. The vicus as revealed from oblique ahgshotography taken by St Joseph in the
1960's covers approximately 5.8 hectares. The antisk nature of the vicus remains is illustrated
by Stukeley (1776) who described a road leadingnfthe east gate of the fort with the square
plots of the buildings on either side. Bellhous®54) undertook excavations to the south of the
fort in 1956 and recorded stone built buildingshwitccupation dates in the third and fourth
centuries.

The site of the development is immediatelytmof the Roman road extending out from the east
gate of the fort, and is on a prime area of ribdemelopment for the vicus. Aerial photographs
show off-shoot roads extending north out from thairmeasterly Roman road, which extend
through the area of the development. These arel@st together and are comparable to examples
from Walton-le-Dale, where substantial stone buoigi were found in between (R Newman pers
comm). Considering that, as late as 1725, theree ve@ibstantial surface remains of stone
structures within this area, it is not surprisihgttarchaeological remains have been revealecin th
course of the groundworks of the present developmen

OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGY NORTH

OA North has considerable experience of theuation and excavation of sites of all periods,
having undertaken a great number of small and laggde projects during the past 18 years.
Evaluations and assessments have taken place witlgnplanning process, to fulfil the
requirements of clients and planning authoritias,very rigorous timetables. OA North has
undertaken considerable numbers of archaeologicavations and evaluations both in Carlisle
and in the Carlisle area. These include excavatidrSt Nicholas Street, Carlisle and OA North,
along with the Archaeological Practice, undertodérge excavation at the Cumbria College of Art
and Design, at Stanwix to the north of Carlisle.

OA North and all its members of staff opematbject to the Institute of Field ArchaeologistsA)
Code of Conduct and OA North is a registered osgginn of the IFA (No 17).

OBJECTIVES

The following programme has been designed ioraence with a verbal brief by Caron Newman,
English Heritage, to provide a programme of arclagoal recording of features exposed in the
course of the developments top-soil strip. A visimapection (C Newman pers comm) suggests
that only demolition debris is presently exposedt, ib is probable that this overlies significant
archaeological deposits. In order to minimise disnce to the archaeology of the area it is
required that the exposed surface be subjectightidlean and that the archaeological features be
subject to detailed planning. A written report vii#é compiled for the results, which will assess the
significance of the data generated by this programithin a local and regional context.

METHODS STATEMENT

The following work programme is submitted ineliwith the stages and objectives of the
archaeological work summarised above.
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3.2
3.21

3.2.2

3.2.3

3.24

3.25

3.2.6

3.4
34.1

3.4.3

ARCHAEOLOGICAL RECORDING

An areas o€l2m x 17m has been stripped of topsoil revealinthagological features. The
programme of recording will involve the cleaningtioé exposed surface and the planned recording
of the features. There is no requirement to exeadeeper than the surface clean, as this would
result in unnecessary disturbance to the archaiealogjratigraphy.

The surface would be subject to cleaning bweét or hoe as appropriate sufficient to expose the
archaeological features and stratigraphy. Recgrdiill comprise a full description and
preliminary classification of features or materisésvealed, and their accurate location (on plan,
and as grid coordinates where appropriate). In abmircumstances, field recording will also
include a continual process of analysis, evaluatemmd interpretation of the data, in order to
establish the necessity for any further more dedaibcording that may prove essential.

All archaeological information collected iretbourse of fieldwork will be recorded in standaedi
form, and will include accurate national grid refeces, and will provide sufficient pictorial record
(plans with both black and white and colour photgips) to identify and illustrate individual
features. The features will be recorded by a coatlin of instrument survey and manual planning
to create a detailed site plan that is preciselyatied into the surrounding topography. A
photographic record will be undertaken simultangoughe recording techniques and procedures
employed by OA North for such detailed recordingresent current best practice.

Results of the field investigation will be oeded using a paper system, adapted from that mged
Centre for Archaeology of English Heritage. Thehare will include both a photographic record
and accurate large scale plans at an appropriate €50 and 1:20).

The costs assume that a moderate complexigrafaeological features will be identified; if,
however, there is a high complexity of featurescesaal there may be a need for additional time on
site to provide for the recording. Any variationtte costings will be subject to agreement with
English Heritage.

Finds: All artefacts and ecofacts will be recorded udimg same system, and will be handled and
stored according to standard practice (followingrent Institute of Field Archaeologists
guidelines) in order to minimise deteriorationislinderstood that a low-level of artefacts hasibee
revealed as a result of the exposure of the greumni@dce and the recording programme has been
costed on the basis that a low level of artefact®vealed. If, however, a higher than anticipated
amount of artefacts are revealed then there witirte be a variation to the costings to provide for
appropriate specialists reporting. Any variationthie costing will be subject to agreement with
English Heritage.

EVALUATION REPORT

Archive: the results of the fieldwork will form the basisafull archive to professional standards,
in accordance with current English Heritage guitkdi The Management of Archaeological
Projects,2nd edition, 1991). The project archive represéimscollation and indexing of all the
data and material gathered during the course gbthject. It will include summary processing and
analysis of all features, finds, or palaeoenvirontakdata recovered during fieldwork, which will
be catalogued by context. All artefacts will begessed to MAP2 standards and will be assessed
by our in-house finds specialists. This archive ba provided in the English Heritage Centre for
Archaeology format, and a synthesis (in the fornthefindex to the archive and the report) will be
included in the Cumbria Sites and Monuments Red@AlNorth practice is to deposit the original
record archive of projects (paper, magnetic andtiglanedia) with the appropriate County Record
Office, and a full copy of the record archive (noifrm or microfiche) together with the material
archive (artefacts, ecofacts, and samples) witlagpgopriate museum.

Report: one bound and one unbound copy of a written syicthreport will be submitted to

English Heritage, and further copies submittedh® €County Sites and Monuments Record. The
report will include a copy of this project desigmd indications of any agreed departure from that
design. It will present, summarise, and interphet tesults of the programme detailed above and
will include a full index of archaeological featarelentified in the course of the project, together
with appropriate illustrations, including detailgdns and sections indicating the locations of
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3.4.4

3.5
3.5.1
3.5.2

3.5.3

3.54

3.5.5

3.5.6

4.2

4.3

archaeological features. The report will includeamplete bibliography of sources from which
data has been derived.

This report will identify areas of defined fa@eology, the location of the excavation area. An
assessment and statement of the actual and pétarmtieeological significance of the site within
the broader context of regional and national arcluagcal priorities will be made. lllustrative
material will include a location map, and plans.

GENERAL CONDITIONS
Access. liaison for basic site access will be undertakeauph English Heritage.

Health and Safety: full regard will, of course, be given to all coraits (services) during the
survey, as well as to all Health and Safety comaiitens. The OA North Health and Safety
Statement conforms to all the provisions of the 8&A(Standing Conference of Unit Managers)
Health and Safety manual. Risk assessments arstakdn as a matter of course for all projects.
The Unit Safety Policy Statement will be providedhe client, if required.

Confidentiality: the report is designed as a document for the fipaie of the client for the
particular purpose as defined in this project desénd should be treated as such. Any requirement
to revise or reorder the material for submissiomp@sentation to third parties or for any other
explicit purpose can be fulfilled, but will requiseparate discussion and funding.

Project Monitoring: any proposed changes to this project design wilageeed with English
Heritage. If required a meeting with English Hagi#iacan be established at the outset of the project.

Insurance: the insurance in respect of claims for personalrinio or the death of any person
under a contract of service with the unit and agsout of an in the course of such person's
employment shall comply with the employers' liagilfCompulsory Insurance) Act 1969 and any
statutory orders made there under. For all othaimd to cover the liability of OA North, in
respect of personal injury or damage to propertynbgligence of OA North or any of its
employees, there applies the insurance cover of f@many one occurrence or series of
occurrences arising out of one event.

Reinstatement: it is understood that there will be no requiremfentreinstatement of the ground
following the recording programme.

WORK TIMETABLE

It is envisaged that the various stages of theeptajutlined above would follow on consecutively,
where appropriate. The phases of work would corapris

Archaeological Recording
A four day period would be required for this elerne
Report

A ten day period would be required to complete #iement.

OA North can execute projects at very shortceotince an agreement has been signed with the
client. The project is scheduled for completionhivitthree weeks from the completion of the field
work.

The project will be under the project managensédtamie Quartermaine, BA Surv Dip MIFA
(OA North Project Manager) to whom all corresporaeshould be addressed. All Unit staff are
experienced, qualified archaeologists, each witlkeise years professional expertise.
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APPENDIX 2
CONTEXT LIST

CONTEXT DESCRIPTION
NUMBER
01 Turf and topsoil
02 Layer — very dark brown sandy-clay
03 Surface — Roman road
04 Stone structure — comprises walls 13 and 14
05 Large, worked stone
06 Stone spread to south of road 03
07 Layer — mid-orange brown silty-sand
08 Clay and cobbles foundation
09 Stone spread to north of road 03
10 Metalled surface - ?floor
11 Three sub-rectangular stones placed across ®ad 0
12 Sub-rectangular stones placed along road 03
13 East/west aligned stone wall — component of sirad4
14 North/south aligned stone wall - component aicitire 04
15 Alternate deposit flat slabs of limestone witft'spots’ of
sandy-clay soil
U

DEPTH
BELOW
GROUND

0.26m

0.30m

0.28m

0.33m

0.23m

0.31m

0.32m

0.26m

0.36m

0.32m

0.31m

0.28m

0.29m

0.30m
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APPENDIX 3

[
OUTLINE FINDS CATALOGUE
[

U
U
Context ORno  Material Category Quantity  Description Date
1 1014 Silver Coin 1 Denarius. Poor condition. Second century
1 1015 Glass Vessel/Window 7 Blue-green mould-blown bottle bast Second century

three fragments of blue-green ?flasl

rim, and three fragments of window

glass.
1 1016 Ceramic Vessel 48 Orange oxidised fabrics. Second century?
1 1017 Ceramic Vessel 12 Greywares. Second century?
1 1018 Ceramic Vessel 2 Nene Valley colour-coat wares. Second/third century
1 1019 Ceramic Vessel 15 Samian. Second century
1 1020 Ceramic Vessel 11 Amphora (Dressel type 20). First to third century
1 1021 Ceramic Vessel 19 Black Burnished Ware Category 1. §econd century or

Iglter
1 1022 Industrial 3 Fragments of slag.
debris

1 1023 Stone Roof tile? 2 Heavily burnt slate.
1 1024 Stone Roof tile? 8 Slightly burnt sandstone.
4 1011 Ceramic building material 2 Broken tile fragment, including one

tegula-type roof tile.
4 1012 Ceramic Vessel 4 Amphora (Dressel type 20). First to third century
4 1012 Ceramic Vessel 1 Oxidised ware. Second century
4 1012 Ceramic Vessel 1 Mortaria. Second century
4 1013 Ceramic Vessel 2 Samian. Second century
4 1013 Ceramic Vessel 3 Nene Valley colour-coat wares. Second/third century
7 1010 Iron Wedge 1
8 1004 Stone Roof tile? 1 Lakeland slate roofing slab, peggec
8 1005 Ceramic Vessel 1 Mortarium. Second century
8 1006 Iron Nail 36
8 1007 Iron Buckle? 1 D-shaped buckle?
8 1008 Iron Spike 1
8 1009 Iron Object 1
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10 1001 Iron Nail 4 Heavily corroded, two fragments, tw
complete examples.
10 1002 Ceramic Vessel 1 Samian. Second century
10 1002 Ceramic Vessel 1 Severn Valley ware. Second century
10 1003 Copper alloy  Fitting 1 Harness fitting? Second century
L]

U

U

U
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ILLUSTRATIONS
[]

0

0

Figure 1 Old Carlisle: location plan
U

Figure 2 Location of the study area relative to pgusition of the Roman fort (after
Higham and Jones 1975)

Figure 3 Detailed plan of the Trench
Figure 4 Detailed plan of structuré4 and08
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PLATES

Plate 1: Aerial view of Old Carlisle fort and assded roads, taken by JK St Joseph in
1949

Plate 2: General view of the site looking west, simgwoad03 and structure84 and08
Plate 3: Detail of roa@3

Plate 4: Structur®4 and ston@®5, looking south-west

Plate 5: The western wall of struct4, looking west

Plate 6: Large worked stoi®®

Plate 7: Looking east across struct0O8sand surfacd0
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Figure 1: Old Carlisle Location Plan
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Plate 1: Aerial view of Old carlisle fort and associated roads, taken by JK St Joseph in
1949. The main Roman road can be seen on the right (south) of the fort, and the
branch road leading to the east gate.



ad 0 and structures 04 and 08

ing ro

4 M

o

: F
7 s
- . o
B B
o

o

ing w

f the site look
Plate 3

: General view 0

Plate 2




Plate 5: The western wall of structure 04, |0oki ng east



Plate 6: Large worked stone 05

Plate 7: Looki ng east ross structure 08 and surface 10





